No. 70004-9-I

DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON FEDERAL, a federally chartered savings association,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

KENDALL D. GENTRY and NANCY GENTRY, individually and the marital community comprised of thereof,

Defendants-Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM SKAGIT COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Dave Needy)

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Gregory R. Fox WSBA No. 30559 Ryan P. McBride WSBA No. 33280 Attorneys for Appellant Washington Federal

LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, Washington 98111-1302 Telephone: 206.223.7000

Facsimile: 206.223.7107

I. INTRODUCTION

Respondents Kendall and Nancy Gentry ("the Gentrys") agreed to "absolutely and unconditionally" guarantee three multi-million dollar commercial loans made to companies they owned and/or managed. Those companies, and other Gentry-related companies, granted multiple deeds of trust on real estate to secure those loans. After the borrowers defaulted, and the Gentrys refused to make good on the guaranties, Appellant Washington Federal—who acquired the original lender's rights to the loans from the FDIC—non-judicially foreclosed on two of the deeds of trust. The value of the real estate collateral was inadequate, however, to satisfy the debt, so Washington Federal filed an action on the guaranties seeking a judgment against the Gentrys in the amount of the deficiency.

The trial court dismissed Washington Federal's claim on summary judgment. It concluded that the two deeds of trust did not just secure the borrowers' indebtedness on the loans, but also the Gentrys' separate obligations on the guaranties. The court further concluded that the Deed of Trust Act precludes a lender from obtaining a deficiency judgment against a guarantor of a commercial loan when the guaranty is secured by a borrower's or other grantor's foreclosed deed of trust. Finally, the court refused to enforce a clause in the guaranties in which the Gentrys agreed

to waive "defenses arising by reason of ... 'anti-deficiency' law ... which may prevent Lender from bringing ... a claim for deficiency[.]"

The trial court erred on all three fronts, any one of which requires reversal. First, the plain language and legislative history of the Deed of Trust Act—and, specifically, RCW 61.24.100(3)(c)—permit a lender to obtain a deficiency judgment against a guarantor of a commercial loan, even when the guaranty is deemed to be secured by a borrower's foreclosed deed of trust. Second, even if the Act did preclude a judgment in that situation, it would not bar a judgment here because the plain language and commercial context of the deeds of trust show that the parties did not intend the deeds to secure the Gentrys' guaranties. Third, and regardless of all else, the Gentrys knowingly waived any anti-deficiency defense they may have had under the Deed of Trust, and that waiver is enforceable as a matter of public policy.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Washington Federal assigns error to the trial court's February 26, 2013 Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and February 1, 2013 letter ruling. CP 765-771. The issues presented are:

1. After a lender non-judicially forecloses on property under a deed of trust granted by a borrower or other grantor to secure a commercial loan, does the Washington Deed of Trust Act, Chapter 61.24

RCW, permit the lender to bring an action for a deficiency judgment against a guarantor of that loan even if the guaranty is deemed to have been secured by the foreclosed deed of trust? Yes.

- 2. If the Deed of Trust Act does not permit a lender to bring an action for a deficiency judgment against a guarantor when the guaranty is secured by the borrower's foreclosed deed of trust, did the trial court err when it concluded that the parties intended the Gentrys' guaranties to be secured by the foreclosed deeds of trust in this case? Yes.
- 3. If the Deed of Trust Act does give the Gentrys a defense against an action for a deficiency judgment, did the trial court err when it concluded that the express waiver of anti-deficiency rights in the Gentrys' commercial guaranties were void as a matter of public policy? Yes.¹

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

The facts are straightforward and undisputed. Stated most simply, Washington Federal non-judicially foreclosed on two deeds of trust that secured three commercial loans, and thereafter brought an action for a deficiency judgment against the Gentrys, who unconditionally guaranteed

¹ The issues presented in this appeal are substantially similar to the issues raised in *Washington Federal v. Harvey*, Case No. 69791-9-I, also currently pending before the Court. Washington Federal has not moved for consolidation, but would not oppose a linking of the two appeals for purposes of determination by the same panel of judges.

repayment of the loans. The first loan was made on December 14, 2005, when Blackburn Southeast, L.L.C., a company owned and/or managed by Kendall Gentry, borrowed over \$2.5 million from Horizon Bank. CP 92-94 (note); 104-107 (loan agreement). In addition to other collateral, the loan to Blackburn Southeast was secured by a May 1, 2006 deed of trust, as modified, on property located on Little Mountain Road in Mount Vernon (the "Little Mountain Deed of Trust"). CP 178-197.

On April 27, 2009, Landed Gentry Development, Inc., another Gentry-related entity, borrowed over \$3.5 million from Horizon Bank. CP 96-98 (note); 108-112 (loan agreement). The loan to Landed Gentry was secured by the Little Mountain Deed of Trust and a May 1, 2006 junior deed of trust on property located on East Blackburn Road in Mount Vernon (the "Blackburn Road Deed of Trust"). CP 137-157. Finally, on September 1, 2009, yet another Gentry-related entity, Gentry Family Investments, L.L.C., borrowed over \$1.1 million from Horizon Bank. CP 100-102 (note); 113-116 (loan agreement). The loan to Gentry Family was also secured by the Little Mountain Deed of Trust. CP 178-197. In sum, the Little Mountain Deed of Trust secured all three loans, whereas the Blackburn Road Deed of Trust secured only the Landed Gentry loan.

In connection with all three loans, as an additional avenue for repayment, the Gentrys each executed an unlimited Commercial Guaranty

(the "Guaranties"). CP 118-123 (Blackburn Southeast); 124-129 (Landed Gentry); 130-135 (Gentry Family). In each one, the Gentrys "absolutely and unconditionally guarantee[d] and promise[d] to pay to Horizon Bank ... the indebtedness" on the three loans. *Id.* The Guaranties also contained an express "Waiver" clause, by which the Gentrys agreed to:

... waive[] any and all rights or defenses based on suretyship or impairment of collateral including, but not limited, any rights or defenses arising by reason of ... 'anti-deficiency' law or any other law which may prevent Lender from bringing any action, including a claim for deficiency, against Guarantor, before or after Lender's commencement or completion of any foreclosure action, either judicially or by exercise of a power of sale ...

Id. The Gentrys were not the grantors of the Little Mountain or Blackburn Road Deeds of Trust, nor did they grant a deed of trust over their own property to secure the Guaranties. Similarly, there is no language in the Guaranties, or extrinsic evidence in the record, to suggest that the parties to the Little Mountain and Blackburn Road Deeds of Trust intended the Gentrys' obligation as guarantors to be secured by either deed of trust. Id. Indeed, as explained below, it would make no sense to do so.

In April 2010, the FDIC assigned Horizon Bank's interest in the three loans, the deeds of trust and the Guaranties to Washington Federal. CP 87 (Ford Decl., ¶¶ 11-13). By then, the borrowers had already defaulted on the loans. CP 85-86 (*Id.*, ¶¶ 2-4). On April 15, 2010,

Washington Federal sent the borrowers and the Gentrys notices of default, demanding that they cure the default, or else the property secured by the Little Mountain and Blackburn Road Deeds of Trust would be subject to foreclosure. CP 209-217; 241-246 (notices of default). The notices warned the Gentrys, as guarantors, that they "may be liable for a deficiency judgment to the extent the sale price obtained at the Trustee's Sale is less than the debt secured by the Deed[s] of Trust." CP 211; 244. Neither the borrowers nor the Gentrys cured the defaults on the three loans. CP 88-89 (Ford Decl., ¶¶ 18, 23); CP 782 (Answer, ¶¶ 3.1, 3.2).

Accordingly, on December 30, 2010, Washington Federal caused the trustee to send Notices of Trustee's Sale. CP 219-231; 248-256. The notices informed the borrowers, grantors and the Gentrys that a trustee's sale of the property secured by the Little Mountain and Blackburn Road Deeds of Trust was scheduled for April 1, 2011. *Id.* Pursuant to RCW 61.24.042, the notices informed the Gentrys that, as guarantors, they could be liable for a deficiency judgment. CP 223; 253. The Gentrys received the notices. CP 783 (Answer, ¶ 4.2 & 4.5). The sales went forward as scheduled and Washington Federal purchased both properties by credit bit. CP 233-239; 258-261 (trustee's deeds). After the sale proceeds were applied to the indebtedness remaining on the loans, plus interest,

foreclosure expenses, fees and costs, a total deficiency remained in the amount of approximately \$7,615,624. CP 89 (Ford Decl., ¶¶ 24-26).

B. Procedural History

In March 2012, within one year of the trustee's sales, Washington Federal sued the Gentrys to enforce the Guaranties in the amount of the deficiency. CP 515-558. The Gentrys answered and counterclaimed, asserting a right to a set-off in the amount of the "fair value" of the property under RCW 61.24.100(5). CP 780-786. The Gentrys then moved for summary judgment.² They argued that the Little Mountain and Blackburn Road Deeds of Trust secured the Guaranties and that, after the property was foreclosed, the Deed of Trust Act—and, specifically, RCW 61.24.100(10)—prohibited Washington Federal from seeking a deficiency judgment against them. CP 792-798. Washington Federal opposed the motion on both contract interpretation and statutory construction grounds, and also argued that the Gentrys had knowingly and expressly waived any anti-deficiency rights they had under the Deed of Trust Act. CP 483-507.

² Washington Federal also moved for summary judgment, arguing that Washington Federal purchased the properties at or above their statutorily defined "fair value." CP 67-84. The Gentrys' sought, and the trial court granted, a CR 56(f) continuance to allow the Gentrys more time to discover facts on the fair value issue. CP 762-763. Because the court subsequently granted the Gentrys' motion for summary judgment (and denied Washington Federal's motion on the same grounds), it never reached the fair value issue, which will have to be determined on remand.

By letter ruling dated February 1, 2013, the trial court granted the Gentrys' motion for summary judgment. CP 765-767. First, the court concluded, after construing ambiguities against Washington Federal as the "drafter," the Guaranties were secured by the Little Mountain and Blackburn Road Deeds of Trust. *Id.* Second, the court interpreted RCW 61.24.100(3)(c) to limit a lender's right to a deficiency judgment against a guarantor to waste or wrongful retention of rents where the guaranty is secured by the borrower's foreclosed deed of trust. *Id.* And, third, the court found that although the Gentrys knowingly waived any antideficiency rights they had under RCW 61.24.100, their waiver was void because it violated public policy. *Id.* The trial court thereafter entered judgment in the Gentrys' favor for the reasons stated in the letter ruling. CP 768-771. Washington Federal timely appealed. CP 772-779.

IV. ARGUMENT

This Court reviews summary judgment *de novo*, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court and viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 501, 115 P.3d 262 (2005). Summary judgment is proper if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions, and affidavits show that there is no

genuine issue of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); *Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 501.

A. The Deed Of Trust Act Allows Washington Federal To Bring An Action For A Deficiency Judgment Against The Gentrys.

This Court must reverse the judgment below because it is contrary to the plain meaning, context and legislative history of the Deed of Trust Act and, worse yet, it results in an absurd result that frustrates the very purpose of the Act. This Court reviews issues of statutory interpretation de novo. City of Spokane v. Rothwell, 166 Wn.2d 872, 876, 215 P.3d 162 (2009). Where the plain meaning of a statute is clear, legislative intent is derived from that plain meaning. Id. The "plain meaning" of a statute is discerned from the ordinary meaning of the language used, as well as from the context of the statute, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole. *Id.* at 876-77. A statute must be construed so that all language is given effect and no portion is rendered meaningless or superfluous. Id. The Court must also avoid constructions that yield absurd or strained consequences. *Id.* If the statute is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, the Court may consider legislative history. Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 142 Wn.2d 801, 808, 16 P.3d 583 (2001).

The trial court concluded that Washington Federal was barred from seeking a deficiency judgment against the Gentrys after it non-judicially foreclosed on the Little Mountain and Blackburn Deeds of Trust because—as the court also found—the deeds of trust secured not only the borrowers' indebtedness, but also the Gentrys' separate obligations under the Guaranties of that indebtedness. Although the court's interpretation of the deeds of trust was erroneous (see Section IV.B), the judgment below can and should be reversed on statutory grounds alone. The Deed of Trust Act gives a lender a broad right to obtain a deficiency judgment against a guarantor of a commercial loan. While the Act places some limit on that right when the guarantor is the owner of the foreclosed property, none of those limits apply when the guaranty is secured by a borrower's foreclosed deed of trust. It simply does not matter whether the Little Mountain and Blackburn Road Deeds of Trust secured the Guaranties; either way, Washington Federal can seek a deficiency judgment against the Gentrys.

1. RCW 61.24.100(3)(c) Does Not Limit The Scope Of A
Deficiency Judgment Against A Guarantor To Waste Or
Wrongful Retention Of Rents If The Guaranty Is Secured
By The Borrower's Foreclosed Deed Of Trust.

The plain meaning of the Deed of Trust Act unambiguously allows Washington Federal to obtain an unlimited deficiency judgment against the Gentrys, subject only to the Gentrys' right to a "fair value" set-off. In 1965, the legislature enacted the Deed of Trust Act to supplement the traditional judicial foreclosure process with an "efficient and inexpensive"

alternative of non-judicial foreclosure. *Cox v. Helenius*, 103 Wn.2d 383, 387, 693 P.2d 683 (1985). It was intended "to avoid time-consuming judicial foreclosure proceedings and to save substantial time and money to both the buyer and the lender. This feature of the act has been applauded as meeting the need of modern real estate financing." *Peoples Nat'l Bank of Wash. v. Ostrander*, 6 Wn. App. 28, 31, 491 P.2d 1058 (1971). The Act contemplated a "quid pro quo between lenders and borrowers" in which the lender gave up a right to a deficiency judgment against the borrower, while the borrower gave up the right of redemption. *Donovick v. Seattle–First Nat'l Bank*, 111 Wn.2d 413, 416, 757 P.2d 1378 (1988).

Historically, creditors could seek a deficiency judgment against a guarantor after a judicial foreclosure. See Nat'l Bank of Wash. v. Equity Investors, 86 Wn.2d 545, 546 P.2d 440 (1976); George v. Jenks, 197 Wn. 551, 85 P.2d 1083 (1938). The original Deed of Trust Act, and a 1990 amendment, did not, however, address whether a lender could still seek a deficiency judgment from a guarantor after non-judicial foreclosure. See Laws of 1965, ch. 74, § 10; Laws of 1990, ch. 111 § 2. Although it was generally assumed that the Act did not provide anti-deficiency protection to guarantors, Washington courts refused to clarify the issue. Glenham v. Palzer, 58 Wn. App. 294, 298 n. 4, 792 P.2d 551 (1990); Thompson v. Smith, 58 Wn. App. 361, 367 n. 4, 793 P.2d 449 (1990). This silence

threatened to disrupt a key benefit of the Act; that is, with the right to pursue a guarantor after non-judicial foreclosure uncertain, creditors might opt for the longer, more expensive process of judicial foreclosure.

In 1998, the legislature significantly amended the Deed of Trust Act to clarify the availability and scope of deficiency judgments against borrowers, grantors and guarantors. Laws of 1998, ch. 295, § 12. The Act precludes deficiency judgments where the foreclosed deed of trust secured a residential loan, but permits deficiency judgments against borrowers, grantors and guarantors "to the extent permitted in this section for deeds of trust securing commercial loans[.]" RCW 61.24.100(1). As it relates to a lender's deficiency action against a "borrower or grantor" where the deed of trust secured a commercial loan, the Act provides in relevant part:

- (3) This chapter does not preclude any one or more of the following after a trustee's sale under a deed of trust securing a commercial loan executed after June 11, 1998:
- (a)(i) ... an action for a deficiency judgment against the borrower or grantor, if such person or persons was timely given the notices under RCW 61.24.040, for (A) any decrease in the fair value of the property caused by waste to the property committed by the borrower or grantor, respectively, after the deed of trust is granted, and (B) the wrongful retention of any rents, insurance proceeds, or condemnation awards by the borrower or grantor, respectively, that are otherwise owed to the beneficiary.

RCW 61.24.100(3)(a)(i). Under this section, the only deficiency judgment available against a borrower or grantor is one for waste or wrongful

retention of rents. Because neither condition existed here, Washington Federal did not seek a deficiency judgment against the borrowers and/or grantors of the Little Mountain and Blackburn Road Deeds of Trust.

Rather, Washington Federal sought a deficiency judgment against the Gentrys in their capacity as guarantors of the loans. The Deed of Trust Act contains a separate exception that applies exclusively to an action for a deficiency judgment against a "guarantor" of a commercial loan. Unlike section (3)(a), this section imposes no limits. Section (3)(c) provides:

(3) This chapter does not preclude any one or more of the following after a trustee's sale under a deed of trust securing a commercial loan executed after June 11, 1998:

* * *

(c) Subject to this Section, an action for a deficiency judgment against a guarantor if the guarantor is timely given the notices under RCW 61.24.042.

RCW 61.24.100(3)(c). Section (3)(c) plainly applies here. There is no dispute that the Guaranties secured only "commercial loans," and the Gentrys admit that Washington Federal gave them timely notice under RCW 61.24.042. CP 783 (Answer, ¶¶ 4.2 & 4.5); 223; 253. The only issue, then, is whether some other part of RCW 61.24.100—incorporated through section (3)(c)'s "[s]ubject to this Section" language—somehow limited the availability or scope of Washington Federal's right to a deficiency judgment in this case. No such limitation exists.

There are only three sections in RCW 61.24.100 that expressly limit a lender's right under section (3)(c) to obtain a deficiency judgment against a guarantor. First, section (4) requires a lender to bring an action within one year of the trustee's sale. RCW 61.24.100(4). Washington Federal did so. Second, section (5) gives a guarantor the right to challenge "fair value" for purposes of determining the deficiency amount. RCW 61.24.100(5). Washington Federal does not dispute that the Gentrys have that right, and the trial court must decide "fair value" on remand. Third, section (6) limits a deficiency judgment against a guarantor to waste and wrongful retention of rents when a lender forecloses on a deed of trust granted by the guarantor to secure the guaranty. RCW 61.24.100(6). Here, the Gentrys did not grant a deed of trust on their own property to secure the Guaranties, nor were they the grantors of the Little Mountain or Blackburn Road Deeds of Trust. CP 137-157; 178-197 (deeds of trust).

Because none of these limitations bar Washington Federal's right to a deficiency judgment, the trial court should have rejected the Gentrys' motion on the basis of section (3)(c) alone. Instead, it interpreted RCW 61.24.100 to impose another, implicit, limitation on section (3)(c):

I interpret section (3)(c) as meaning that a deficiency judgment, against a guarantor whose guaranty was secured by the nonjudicially foreclosed deed of trust, can only be obtained for the decrease in fair value [for waste] or wrongful retention [of rents], ...

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