70004-9

No. 70004-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

WASHINGTON FEDERAL, a federally chartered savings association,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

KENDALL D. GENTRY and NANCY GENTRY, individually, and the martial community comprised thereof

Defendants/Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS KENDALL AND NANCY GENTRY

Christopher I, Brain, WSBA #5054 Email: cbrain@tousley.com Mary B. Reiten, WSBA #33623 Email: mreiten@tousley.com TOUSLEY BRAIN STEPHENS PLLC 1700 Seventh Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, Washington 98101 206.682.5600

Attorneys for Defendants/Respondents

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

IV. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

A. Standard of Review

Three issues exist for the Court to decide, each of which is

reviewed de novo. Seybold v. Neu, 105 Wn. App. 666, 675, 19 P.3d 1068

(2001). First, do the DOTs secure the Gentrys' guaranties? Second, if the

Gentrys' guaranties are secured by the DOTs, does RCW 61.24.100(10)

preclude a deficiency action against the Gentrys after a non-judicial

foreclosure? And finally, if the DOTs secure the guaranties, and RCW

61.24.100(10) precludes deficiency judgments against a guarantor after a non-judicial foreclosure sale, are the waivers of statutory anti-deficiency protections in the guaranties void as a matter of public policy? The answer to all three questions is "Yes."

B. The Deed of Trust Act

The legislature enacted the Deed of Trust Act in 1965 to permit non-judicial foreclosure. "The enactment of RCW ch. 61.24, however, contemplated a 'quid pro quo' between lenders and borrowers": Debtors gave up their right of redemption and creditors gave up their right to a deficiency judgment. <u>Thompson v. Smith</u>, 58 Wn. App. 361, 365, 793 P.2d 449 (1990) (quoting <u>Donovik v. Seattle-First Nat'l Bank</u>, 111 Wn.2d 413, 416, 757 P.2d 1378 (1988).

In 1998, the Legislature amended the Deed of Trust Act to permit deficiency judgment in very narrow circumstances. Specifically, the Act now provides: "<u>Except to the extent permitted in this section for deeds of</u> <u>trust securing commercial loans, a deficiency judgment shall not be</u> <u>obtained</u> on the obligations secured by a deed of trust against any borrower, grantor, or guarantor after a trustee's sale under that deed of trust." RCW 61.24.100(1) (emphasis added). That is, deficiency judgments after non-judicial foreclosure are the exception, not the rule. The statute, RCW 61.24.100, goes on to provide that commercial loan guarantors may be subject to deficiency judgments if given timely notices under RCW 61.24.042(3)(c) and such actions are commenced within a year of the non-judicial foreclosure sale. RCW 61.24.100(4). Moreover, the guarantor is entitled to have the court establish the "fair value" of the property, and if that "fair value" is greater than the bid at the trustee's sale, then that is the value used to calculate the deficiency. RCW 61.24.100(5). And, a guarantor may also secure a guaranty with a deed of trust on its own property, but any deficiency is then limited to waste and wrongful retention of rents, insurance proceeds, or condemnation awards. <u>See</u> RCW 61.24.100(5).

Finally, and the matter under contention here, RCW 61.24.100(10) provides that "[a] trustee's sale under a deed of trust securing a commercial loan does not preclude an action to collect or enforce any obligation of a borrower or guarantor <u>if that obligation</u>, or the <u>substantial</u> <u>equivalent of that obligation was not secured by the deed of trust</u>." (Emphasis added). WaFed wants to get around this language by arguing that the statute's plain meaning should be ignored. Its position cannot stand for the simple reason that it chose to be bound by the limitations in the Deed of Trust Act.

8

The fact is that a creditor makes an election of remedies when the debtor defaults. A creditor may (1) non-judicially foreclose (RCW ch. 61.24); (2) judicially foreclose (RCW ch. 61.12); (3) sue on the note or the guaranty (RCW 61.24.100(2)(a); or (4) seek the appointment of a general receiver to sell the property (RCW ch. 7.60). Here, WaFed chose to non-judicially foreclose. WaFed made the deliberate choice to be bound by the limitations imposed on it by the Deed of Trust Act. The relief WaFed seeks (rejection of the plain meaning of the DOTs, RCW 61.24.100(10), and blanket waivers in violation of public policy) would render the protections in the Deed of Trust Act superfluous and meaningless.

C. "Related Documents" Include the Gentrys' Guaranties

The Gentrys' guaranties are secured by the DOTs, which explicitly define the Gentrys' guaranty for each note as a "Related Document" that composes part of the "Indebtedness" that each DOT secures. To find that each guaranty is not secured by either the Blackburn Road DOT or Little Mountain DOT would directly contradict each DOT's plain and unambiguous inclusion of the terms "guaranties" in its definition of "Related Documents."

Because the DOTs are integrated documents, the context rule for the interpretation of contracts applies. <u>Berg v. Hudesman</u>, 115 Wn.2d 657, 660, 801 P.2d 222 (1990); CR 16, 29 ("This Deed of Trust, together with any Related Documents, constitute the entire understanding and agreement of the parties as to the matters set forth in the Deed of Trust. No alteration of or amendment to this Deed of Trust shall be effective unless given in writing and signed by the party or parties sought to be charged or bound by the alteration or amendment."). But even under the context rule, the parole evidence rule applies. <u>Berg</u>, 115 Wn.2d at 660.

The parol evidence rule provides: "[E]xtrinsic evidence is not admissible to add to, subtract from, vary, or contradict written instruments which are contractual in nature and which are valid, complete, unambiguous, and not affected by accident, fraud, or mistake." <u>Id</u>. at 670 (quoting <u>St. Yves v. Mid State Bank</u>, 111 Wn.2d 374, 377, 757 P.2d 1384 (1988)). Because of the parole evidence rule, even if evidence existed that directly contradicts the language of the DOTs (WaFed has no such evidence, <u>see</u> Op. Br. at 5), such evidence could not change their terms. And here, those terms unambiguously include the Gentrys' guaranties as secured Related Documents.

10

1. Whether "Guaranty" or "guaranty" is Used in the DOTs, Each Term Refers to the Gentrys' Guaranties

WaFed makes much of the fact that "Guaranty" with a capital "G" is used in certain parts of the deeds of trust and a lower case "g" is used in other parts. But "an ambiguity will not be read into a contract where it can reasonably be avoided by reading the contract as a whole." <u>McGary v.</u> <u>Westlake Investors</u>, 99 Wn.2d 280, 285, 661 P.2d 971 (1983); <u>see also</u> <u>Tjart v. Smith Barney, Inc.</u>, 107 Wn. App. 885, 895, 28 P.3d 823 (2011) (holding that courts will not read ambiguity into a contract where it can be reasonably avoided). Here, reviewing the contract as a whole, the terms "Guaranty" and "guaranty" are used interchangeably – avoiding any ambiguity by the use of both "Guaranty" and "guaranty." For example, under "Events of Default ... Events Affecting the Guarantor," the DOTs provide that an event of default occurs when:

Any of the preceding events [of default] occurs with respect to any Guarantor of any of the indebtedness or any Guarantor dies or becomes incompetent or revokes or disputes the validity of, or liability under, any <u>Guaranty</u> of the indebtedness. In the event of death, Lender, at its option, may, but shall not be required to, permit the Guarantor's estate to assume unconditionally the obligations arising under the <u>guaranty</u> in a manner satisfactorily to Lender, and, in doing so, cure an Event of Default. (Emphasis added.) CR 14, 28.

A second ground on which to find that no ambiguity exists here rests on the fact that the general and specific terms ("Guaranty" and "guaranty") do not conflict. <u>Seattle First Nat'l Bank v. Westlake Park</u> <u>Ass'n</u>, 42 Wn. App. 269, 274, 711 P.2d 361 (1985). That is, a borrower cannot be their own surety; thus, the only possible meaning of lower case "guaranty" includes the Gentrys' guaranties.¹ 74 Am. Jur. 2d Suretyship § 1 (Definition and nature of relationship).

And finally, even assuming ambiguity exists, that ambiguity is construed against the drafter, here WaFed. <u>McGary</u>, 99 Wn.2d at 287. Under each of these analyses, the conclusion reached is that the DOTs secure the Gentrys' guaranties.

2. <u>Whether the Guaranties Provide They are Secured by the</u> DOTs is Irrelevant

WaFed also incorrectly argues that because the Gentrys' guaranties do not specifically provide that they are secured by a deed of trust, the language in the DOTs securing the guaranties is meaningless. But the DOTs are the documents that provide the operative securitization language. And the DOTs provide that they secure the "Indebtedness;"

¹ Unlike the case cited by WaFed (<u>Diamond B. Contractors, Inc. v. Granite Falls Sch.</u> <u>Dist.</u>, 117 Wn. App. 157, 70 P.3d 966 (2003)), no other possible meaning can be assigned to lower case "guaranties."

"Indebtedness" includes "Related Documents;" and "Related Documents" includes the "guaranties."

Further, the drafter of these DOTs contemplated that a default by the guarantor would constitute a default under the DOT. CR 14, 28. Thus, WaFed's argument that the DOTs could not have secured the guaranties because they only regulated performance by the borrower rings false.

Finally, had Horizon Bank (WaFed's predecessor-in-interest to the DOTs) meant to exclude guaranties, it could have. Indeed, the definition of "Related Documents" in the DOTs specifically excludes "environmental indemnity agreements," demonstrating that its author knew how to exclude documents that should not be included. CR 17, 31. WaFed appears to concede this point when it cites to <u>Washington Practice</u> for the example that environmental indemnities may be excluded from those documents secured by deeds of trust – as was done here. Op. Br. at 19. Indeed, only one word needed to be added. If "guaranties" had been inserted before "environmental indemnity agreements" in the last sentence of the "Related Documents" definition, WaFed might have prevailed. Even one, five-word sentence could have made all the difference: "Guaranties are not Related Documents."

3. <u>The Little Mountain DOT Modification Does Not</u> <u>Change the Definition of "Related Documents" or</u> <u>"Indebtedness"</u>

The modification of the Little Mountain DOT does not change the definition of "Related Documents." In its opening brief, WaFed fails to point out that the Little Mountain DOT Modification provides that "[e]xcept as expressly modified above, the terms of the original Deed of Trust shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect...." CR 195 (2009 Modification). In other words, because the 2009 modification did not change the terms "Indebtedness" or "Related Documents" as defined in the original Little Mountain DOT, those terms remain as originally stated. Indeed, the only term to change in the Little Mountain DOT is the term "Note." The cross-collateralization provisions are an addition, not a change that redefines which documents are secured.

D. RCW 61.24.100(10) Precludes Deficiency Actions Against a Guarantor After a Non Judicial Foreclosure if the Guaranty is Secured by the Deed of Trust

Because the Gentrys' guaranties are secured by the DOTs, the next issue turns on statutory interpretation. That is, does RCW 61.24.100(10) prohibit deficiency judgment against guarantors where (1) the guaranty is secured by the deed of trust; and (2) a non-judicial foreclosure of that deed of trust has taken place. RCW 61.24.100(1) provides that "Except to the extent permitted in this section for deeds of trust securing commercial loans, a deficiency judgment shall not be obtained on the obligations secured by a deed of trust against any borrower, grantor, or guarantor after a trustee's sale under that deed of trust." (Emphasis added). Section 10 then provides that "[a] trustee's sale under a deed of trust securing a commercial loan does not preclude an action to collect or enforce any obligation of a borrower or guarantor if that obligation, or the substantial equivalent of that obligation, was not secured by the deed of trust."² (Emphasis added).

Here, the trial court did not err when it adopted the clear language of RCW 61.24.100(10) and held that obligations under a guaranty secured by a deed of trust are extinguished by the non-judicial foreclosure of that deed of trust. This interpretation conforms to the plain meaning of the statute.

1. The Plain Language of RCW 61.24.100(10) Governs

"When statutory language is unambiguous, [the Court] looks only to that language to determine the legislative intent without considering

 $^{^{2}}$ WaFed inexplicably argues that the trial court did not rely on RCW 61.24.100(10). Op. Br. at 17. But the trial court's letter opinion provides in pertinent part: "RCW 61.24.100 clearly states deficiency judgment shall not be obtained against a guarantor when that guaranty is secured by a deed of trust which is nonjudicially foreclosed except for a few narrowly crafted exceptions." This passage refers to subsection (10).

outside sources." State v. Ortega, Wn.2d , 297 P.3d 57, 60-61 (March 21, 2013) (quoting State v. Delgado, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727, 63 P.3d 792 (2003) (holding that the plain language of "the arresting office" does not mean "any officer" when determining the legality of an arrest for a misdemeanor committed in "the arresting officer's" presence). Only by ignoring the plain language meaning of the phrase "any obligation" does WaFed reach the conclusion that "any" cannot include deficiency judgments. But "any" is defined as: "one or some indiscriminately of whatever kind." Merriam Webster's Online Dictionary at http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/any (last visited May 17, 2013). Accord Shoreline Comm. Coll. Dist. No. 7 v. Empl. Sec. Dep't, 120 Wn.2d 394, 405, 842 P.2d 938 (1992) (interpreting "any" broadly in accordance with its plain meaning); State v. Tracer, 173 Wn.2d 708, 717-18, 272 P.3d 199 (2012) (distinguishing between "the prosecuting attorney" and "any prosecuting attorney" and concluding that "the" referred to the elected prosecuting attorney and "any" referred to all prosecuting attorneys).

And "obligation" is defined as: "something (as a formal contract, a promise, or the demands of conscience or custom) that <u>OBLIGATES</u> one to a course of action." Indeed, a second definition of obligation is: "a debt

security (as a mortgage or corporate bond)." <u>Id</u>. at <u>http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/obligation?show=0&t=1351638913</u> (last visited May 17, 2013) (emphasis in original). A guaranty falls under this definition of "any obligation" and the result of having given a guaranty – liability for a deficiency – is also encompassed. To find otherwise would be to eviscerate the inclusion of "guarantor" in RCW 61.24.100(10).

Finally, the term "if" means "in the event that," "allowing that," "on the assumption that," and "on condition that." <u>Id</u>. at <u>http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/if</u> (last visited on May 17, 2013). The application of the doctrine of <u>expressio unius est exclusion</u> <u>alterius</u> ("to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of the other") supports the fact that the Legislature conditioned the right to bring a deficiency action on the guaranty <u>not</u> being secured by the deed of trust.

Indeed, WaFed's interpretation would create two different, contradictory meanings of the phrase "any obligation." That is, guarantors could still be pursued for deficiency judgments, but borrowers could not – yet the language used in the statute is identical for each. Such a result cannot stand.

2. <u>Other Limitations on Deficiency Judgments Against</u> Guarantors do NOT Conflict With RCW 61.24.100(10)

RCW 61.24.100(10) does not conflict with RCW 61.24.100(3) – (6), which WaFed would like this Court to find provide the only limits on deficiency judgments. Rather RCW 61.24.100(10) provides an <u>additional</u> ground on which to deny a lender a deficiency judgment against a guarantor. Indeed, RCW 61.24.100 provides that: "<u>Except to the extent</u> <u>permitted in this section</u> for deeds of trust securing commercial loans, <u>a</u> <u>deficiency judgment shall not be obtained</u> on the obligations secured by a deed of trust against any borrower, grantor, or guarantor after a trustee's sale under that deed of trust." RCW 61.24.100(1) (emphasis added). Contrary to WaFed's protestations, it does not say, "Except to the extent permitted in subsections (3) – (6)..."³

If the language of subsection (10) appeared in a section of Deed of Trust Act other than RCW 61.24.100, WaFed might have a point. But it is located in the specific section that addresses the liability of guarantors. Because "any obligation" encompasses guaranties and any resulting liabilities incurred as a result of those guaranties, that phrase should be

³ Indeed, RCW 61.24.100(3)(c) provides that "Subject to this section" (i.e. the entirety of RCW 61.24.100), an action for a deficiency may be had against a guarantor if the guarantor is given the appropriate notices.

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